ARGUMENT

1.
Antitrust.


The district court erred by dismissing claims brought by Cavalier Telephone, LLC (“Cavalier”) against Verizon Virginia Inc. (“Verizon”) without analyzing whether the allegations in Cavalier’s Complaint stated a claim for violation of the antitrust laws.  In its brief, Verizon relies on the same generalities and “policy” arguments as the district court, and thus fails to refute Cavalier’s contention that Cavalier pled valid claims.

a.  
Goldwasser does not bar Cavalier’s claims.


Verizon urges this Court to affirm the dismissal of Cavalier’s claims because the Telecommunications Act of 1996, Public Law No. 104-104 (“the Act”), “eliminate[s] any risk to competition from access disputes” (VZ 40
) and makes “[i]nterconnection disputes…not suitable antitrust claims for institutional reasons” (VZ 42).


The district court’s entire decision on the antitrust claims, as well as this argument by Verizon, both turn on Goldwasser v. Ameritech Corp., 222 F.3d 390 (7th Cir. 2000).  However, Law Offices of Curtis V. Trinko v. Bell Atlantic 

Corp., 2002 U.S. App. Lexis 12233 (2nd Cir. June 20, 2002) recently gutted Goldwasser as the basis for rulings that Verizon’s counsel now urges this Court to follow, but that the same counsel also call a “dramatically expanded” reading of Goldwasser negating antitrust claims “based upon” or “inextricably intertwined” with the Act.  P. Huber, M. Kellogg & J. Thorne, Federal Telecommunications Law Verizon Treatise at p. 95 (2001 Supp.) (“Verizon Treatise”).


Trinko addressed Cavalier-like allegations but found that

While it is clear that a plaintiff would not state an antitrust claim against a defendant simply by alleging that the defendant violated its duties under section 251, the plaintiff’s antitrust claim does not merely allege that the defendant violated section 251.  In fact, it does not mention section 251 at all.  The allegations in the amended complaint describe conduct that may support an antitrust claim under a number of theories.  While some of this conduct might also violate section 251, these are not merely allegations that section 251 has been violated.

Trinko, supra, 2002 U.S. Ap. Lexis 12233 at * 44-*45.  Trinko applies with equal force to this case:  Cavalier did not mention section 251 at all, and alleged conduct supporting an antitrust claim under a number of theories.


Moreover, Trinko refuted both arguments advanced by Verizon in this case.  First, Cavalier’s antitrust claims do not fail under the label “interconnection dispute”—a well-pled antirust claim does not fail merely because “it closely resembles an action brought under another statute.”  Id. at *48.  Second, the Act, “while meant to create significant change in a market, is not unprecedented as a legislative attempt to open markets to competition.”  Id. at *51.  In analogous circumstances, the antitrust laws have still applied, and Verizon’s theoretical arguments about possible conflicts with the Act do not render them inapplicable here.  Compare Trinko at *50-*58 (relying on Otter Tail Power Co. v. U.S., 410 U.S. 366 (1973)) with VZ 39-45.  Simply put, the Act does not expressly or implicitly preclude any of Cavalier’s claims.  At most, it raises an additional consideration in crafting injunctive relief.


For these reasons, this Court, like the Second Circuit in Trinko, should reject Verizon’s arguments and halt the expansion of Goldwasser’s flawed dicta.

b.  
The duty to deal.

Verizon argues that “[a] monopolist has no general duty to assist competitors.”  (VZ
 at 26.)  Yet, as Verizon’s counsel have pointed out, “[d]espite considerable litigation, questions concerning the circumstances under which a single-firm monopolist has a duty to deal with other firms remain the ‘most unsettled and vexatious in the antitrust field.’”  P. Huber, M. Kellogg & J. Thorne, Federal Telecommunications Law at p. 333 (1999) (“Verizon Treatise”) (citation omitted).  Verizon mainly argues that duties to deal must be limited, and that Cavalier’s claims are inadequate—all without a single reference to Cavalier’s Complaint.  (VZ 24-29.)  These abstractions do not address the issue on appeal:  whether Cavalier stated a claim for violation of the antitrust laws.

c.  
Refusal to deal.


Again without referring to any specific allegations in Cavalier’s Complaint, Verizon claims that Cavalier has not alleged a refusal to deal under either Aspen Skiing Co. v. Aspen Highlands Skiing Corp., 472 U.S. 585 (1985) or Olympia Equip. Leasing Co. v. Western Union Tel. Co., 797 F.2d 370 (7th Cir. 1986).  (VZ 30-31.)  Verizon errs.


First, Cavalier alleged at least one continuing fact pattern directly analogous to Aspen Skiing in and ¶¶ 115-117 of its Complaint (J.A. 25-26, 28).  As alleged, Verizon first provided unbundled high-capacity loops to Cavalier, then decided to force Cavalier to order such loops on a retail rather than wholesale basis, while Verizon trotted out new services similar to those provided by Cavalier over such loops.  That about-face is the same “refusal to deal” condemned in Aspen Skiing, in which a larger competitor ended a joint lift ticket program to stifle competition by the other participant in that program.


Second, Cavalier alleged at least two other outright refusals to deal, in ¶¶ 92-98 and ¶ 121 of its Complaint (J.A. 25-26, 28).  In the situation, Verizon refuses to provide unbundled access to last-mile facilities served over integrated digital loop carriers (“IDLC”).  In the second, Verizon refuses to provide last-mile facilities for Cavalier’s offer digital subscriber line (“DSL”) services, if the loop is too long for Verizon to provide its own DSL service.  Such blatant refusals to deal violate § 2 of the Sherman Act.  Va. Vermiculite, Ltd. v. W.R. Grace & Co., 156 F.3d 535, 539-540 (4th Cir. 1998).

Third, Cavalier alleged that Verizon refused to deal in other contexts, such as trunks needed to connect Cavalier’s switch to Verizon’s network (Complaint ¶¶ 52-53, J.A. 20), and trunks and routing needed to exchange traffic between the two networks (id. at ¶¶ 54-55).  As an entrenched, single-firm monopolist, Verizon can use such refusals to deal as choke points at numerous points in the process of providing the last-mile facilities that Cavalier and other competitors must use to reach individual customers.

For these reasons, it was error for the district court to ignore Cavalier’s allegations of a refusal to deal (see Complaint at ¶ 176, J.A. 35) and dismiss Cavalier’s claims.

d.  
Essential facilities.


Assailing another theory of liability alleged by Cavalier but not addressed by the district court, Verizon contends that the essential facilities doctrine does not apply for three reasons.  Those arguments should be rejected, for they delve into factual issues not decided on a motion to dismiss.  (See VZ 17.)  They also lack merit, as discussed below.


Verizon first says that it is not required to “transform itself” into a wholesale supplier under the essential facilities doctrine.  However, Verizon relies upon Laurel Sand & Gravel, Inc. v. CSX Transportation, Inc., 924 F.2d 539 (4th Cir. 1991), which involved a motion for summary judgment, not a motion to dismiss.  Moreover, Cavalier is not seeking access to railroad tracks, but to the same last-mile telephone facilities that have long been held to be essential facilities.  See, e.g., MCI Communs. Corp. v. AT&T, 708 F.2d 1081 (7th Cir. 1983).  Cavalier is not simply complaining that Verizon provided inadequate ordering facilities and other ancillary services.  The crux of Cavalier’s complaint is, rather, that Verizon deliberately created unnecessarily complex, expensive, delay-ridden, and burdensome processes as a means of denying access to essential, last-mile facilities.


Verizon also argues that Cavalier seeks “preferential access” that would force Verizon to “abandon its facilities.”  However, Cavalier alleged in ¶ 45 of its Complaint that the alleged essential facilities “can accommodate several competitors offering different basic telephone services.”  (J.A. 19.)  Verizon is thus impermissibly quarreling with the allegations of the Complaint.  This argument should therefore be rejected.


Verizon further argues that denial of access means only absolute denial (VZ 34-35).  However, the courts have not embraced this absolutist position, but have instead repeatedly held that the antitrust laws prohibit the owner of an essential facility “from unreasonably and discriminatorily restricting access to these essential facilities.”  See Southern Pac. Communs. Co. v. AT&T Co., 740 F.2d 980, 1008 (D.C.Cir. 1984) (listing authorities).  In fact, it was “certain practices” and “discriminatory and extortionate charges.” at issue in U.S. v. Terminal R.R. Ass’n, 224 U.S. 383, 406-407 (1912), not an outright denial of access.  As the Seventh Circuit ruled in the context of an essential-facilities and refusal-to-deal case, “[a]greeing to deal on unreasonable terms is merely a type of refusal to deal.”  Fishman v. Estate of Wirtz, 807 F.2d 520, 541 (7th Cir. 1986).  Thus, Verizon’s argument on this point should also be rejected.


Finally, Verizon argues (VZ 36) that Cavalier’s claims are barred by part of MCI, supra, that rejected MCI’s argument for AT&T to “make available its full nationwide network to a competitor.”  708 F.2d at 1149.  That result is utterly inapposite, especially because Cavalier alleged in ¶¶ 36-46 of its Complaint (J.A. 18-19) that it owns and operates most facilities and equipment that it uses to offer services.  Cavalier needs access not to a “full nationwide network,” but only to the same last-mile facilities that MCI opened up.  Verizon might have a better argument if Cavalier pled that Verizon’s salespeople were an essential facility, but that is not the case here.

e.  
Price squeeze.


In its price squeeze argument, Verizon tries to limit Cavalier’s theories of liability and describe them as not timely asserted, while also attacking the price squeeze claim.


Despite Verizon’s arguments, Cavalier presented six theories of liability in its complaint.  (See J.A. 1112-1114, citing specific paragraphs alleging monopolization, price squeeze, attempted monopolization, leveraging, refusal to deal, and essential facilities.)  Cavalier’s presentation of these claims in its Complaint, and in argument on the motion to dismiss, distinguishes Cavalier’s claims from the claims at issue in the cases cited by Verizon.  (See VZ 14 n. 9.)  Finally, Verizon claims that regulated wholesale and retail rates bar a price squeeze claim (VZ 38
).  That claim quarrels with the Complaint, which alleged (in ¶ 26) that some relevant services “are regulated and some are not.”  (J.A. 17.)  Moreover, ¶¶ 48, 58, 60, 83-84, 104, 113, 124, 137, and 144 of the Complaint (J.A. 19-32) all allege heightened effective costs, not just excessive prices.


For all of these reasons, Verizon’s argument should be rejected.

f.  
Virginia antitrust law.


Verizon has not addressed whether Cavalier’s claims under the Virginia antitrust laws should not fall without analysis of whether the Telecommunications Act of 1996, Public Law No. 104-104, preempted Virginia law as well as displacing federal antitrust law.  Instead, Verizon blankly argues for lockstep consistency with federal law, and—without stating why—contends that its alleged conduct is “regulated.”  These lamentably inadequate arguments should not be adopted to abrogate Virginia’s antitrust laws.

2.  
The Lanham Act.


Verizon argues that Cavalier did not allege “enough” misrepresentations, or sufficiently specific misrepresentations, to state a claim under the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a).  Neither the statute nor the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure
 support that notion, and the claim should not have been dismissed but should have been tested through discovery and trial.


Verizon also argues, without legal support, that the district court properly denied Cavalier leave to amend.  As this Court has held, leave to amend should be granted unless amendment would be futile, a party has acted in bad faith, or amendment would be prejudicial to the opposing party.  Edell & Assocs., Inc. v. Law Offices of Peter G. Angelos, 264 F.3d 424, 446 (4th Cir. 2001).  The district abused its discretion by not following this standard, or any other, when it did not even address Cavalier’s request for leave to amend.  The lower court’s ruling should thus be reversed.

3.  
The Communications Act.


Arguing that the more specific provisions of 47 U.S.C. §§ 251 and 252 control, Verizon argues that the district court properly found that Cavalier had no claim under 47 U.S.C. §§ 201 and 202.


Like the Goldwasser “rationale,” this argument fixates irrationally on the Act to the exclusion of other applicable laws.  The “principle of statutory construction” cited by Verizon (VZ 48) may illuminate the meaning of a word, but it does not geld a statute enacted in 1934.  Likewise, the Federal Communications Commission may well say that a carrier must choose one of two modes to collocate, but it elevates form over substance to claim that such an election nullifies long-standing and basic provisions of the Communications Act of 1934, 47 U.S.C. §§ 151 et seq.  By their terms, §§ 201 and 202 apply to all common carriers—the statute is not limited to common carriers operating “the federal tariff regime” (VZ 50), nor does it exempt common carriers operating under “the interconnection regime of Sections 251 and 252” (id.).  Indeed, in Trinko, supra, the Second Circuit specifically held that plaintiffs in that case had properly pled a violation, by Verizon's New York affiliate, of the duty of non-discrimination imposed on carriers by § 202 and that relief for such violations in federal court was appropriate under 47 U.S.C. § 207, the same claim alleged in ¶¶ 212-215 of Cavalier’s Complaint (J.A. 40).  Trinko, 2002 U.S. App. Lexis 12233 at *18-*27.  Trinko therefore supports reversal of the district court in this case.

Cavalier reiterates that the Telecommunications Act of 1996 amended, but did not replace, the Communications Act of 1934.  As such, §§ 201 and 202 remain in force.  Cavalier’s claims were thus wrongly dismissed.

4.  
The BA/GTE Merger Order.

Again claiming insufficient detail, Verizon also argues that the district court properly dismissed Cavalier’s claims for violation of the BA/GTE Merger Order.
Cavalier alleged anticompetitive and wrongful conduct by Verizon, and further alleged that this conduct violated the BA/GTE Merger Order.  That is enough detail to give Verizon notice of Cavalier’s claims.  Verizon’s motion to dismiss should not have been granted unless “no relief could be granted under any set of facts that could be proved consistent with the allegations.”  Hishon v. King & Spalding, 467 U.S. 69, 73 (1984).  The district court wrongly denied Cavalier the benefit of that standard.

Moreover, Cavalier also pointed to specific conduct by Verizon that violated the BA/GTE Merger Order, referring to non-compliance with Merger Order provisions concerning DSL loops, billing discounts, and collocation,
 in ¶¶ 120, 139, and 222 of the Complaint (J.A. 28, 31, 41).

The district court should not have dismissed these claims.

5.  
Breach of contract.


Verizon has not refuted Cavalier’s argument, in its initial brief, that it was error for the district court to dismiss Cavalier’s breach of contract claims for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.  Instead, Verizon asserts a flawed and partial application of the doctrine of primary jurisdiction, to argue that the district court should have referred the breach of contract claims to the Virginia State Corporation Commission (“the SCC”).  This argument should be rejected for several reasons.

First, the Supreme Court has explained how the doctrine of primary jurisdiction operates:

“Primary jurisdiction”…applies where a claim is originally cognizable in the courts, and comes into play whenever enforcement of the claim requires the resolution of issues which, under a regulatory scheme, have been placed within the special competence of an administrative body; in such a case the judicial process is suspended pending referral of such issues to the administrative body for its views.

U.S. v. Western Pac. R.R. Co., 352 U.S. 59 (1956) (quotation marks in original, citation omitted).

As the Supreme Court made clear, it is a specific factual issue, not the mere subject matter of a contract, that triggers primary jurisdiction.  Verizon cannot complain that Cavalier had not specified the pertinent contractual provisions (VZ 52) and yet also argue that primary jurisdiction requires the stay or dismissal of Cavalier’s claims.  As the Supreme Court also made clear, the proper course of action, if primary jurisdiction did apply, was to stay the matter and refer the pertinent questions to the expert agency.  See C.F. Inds., Inc. v. Transcontinental Gas Pipe Line Corp., 614 F.2d 33, 35 (4th Cir. 1980).

Finally, referral of the breach of contract claims to the SCC, in their entirety, is problematic for an additional reason:  the SCC already ruled that it could not award Cavalier monetary damages and that it would not apply federal law.  (See J.A. 1157 n. 14.)  Verizon argues that Cavalier has invoked the SCC’s authority to interpret and enforce the contract at issue here on “numerous occasions” (VZ 55), but its sole supporting reference is to J.A. 649, the initial complaint in the case in which the SCC later imposed the limits on its own authority that are described above.

For all of these reasons, dismissal of Cavalier’s breach of contract claims, and especially dismissal with prejudice, was plain error that this Court should reverse.

6. 
Diversity jurisdiction.


Finally, this Court should reject Verizon’s arguments in support of the district court’s flawed legal finding with respect to subject matter jurisdiction.

Verizon argues that the district court properly found that the principal place of business of Cavalier Telephone Corporation is Virginia, because that is the sole place of business of its one directly owned subsidiary, Cavalier.  (VZ 57.)  However, Verizon’s argument ignores the uncontroverted fact that Cavalier’s parent has indirect subsidiaries that operate in Pennsylvania, Maryland, New Jersey, Delaware, and the District of Columbia.  (J.A. 991.)  Verizon’s argument also ignores the fact that affidavit testimony described the activities of the parent corporation in multiple states.  (Id.)

Thus, whether one looked to the operations of the subsidiaries or the parent corporation, there were factual issues about the principal place of business of the parent corporation.  With “material jurisdictional facts” in dispute, the district court should not have granted the motion.  Evans v. B.F. Perkins Co., 166 F.3d 642, 647 (4th Cir. 1999).


Finally, even if this Court does uphold the district court’s ruling on this point, it should clarify that dismissal for lack of subject matter jurisdiction is without prejudice. 

CONCLUSION


For the reasons stated above, the district court’s decision should be reversed.
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�  	References to Verizon’s June 12, 2002 brief are to “VZ” followed by the relevant page number(s).


�   	In a lengthy June 24, 2002 letter, Verizon has already urged that Trinko does not apply here because it was “limited to” consumers.  Of course, the fact that Goldwasser was also a consumer suit did not stop Verizon from urging it as the dispositive decision in cases brought by competitors.  Moreover, Trinko emphasized the antitrust laws’ intent “to compensate victims of antitrust violations for their injuries.”  2002 U.S.App. Lexis 12233 at *50.  Like consumers, competitors suffer compensable harm from anticompetitive behavior.  The Act adds no new damages provisions to the Communications Act of 1934, 47 U.S.C. §§ 151 et seq., so the animating rationale is no different in this case.


�   	References in this Reply Brief to the June 12, 2002 Brief for Verizon Virginia Inc. are to “VZ” followed by the pertinent page number(s).


�   	While Cavalier alleges that the essential facility is the network of last-mile facilities, and not an individual loop within that network, Cavalier notes that there are methods for providing multiple voice lines over a single twisted pair of copper lines, such as digital single subscriber carrier (“DSSC”).


�   	Town of Concord v. Boston Edison Co., 915 F.2d 17 (1st Cir. 1990) is also distinguishable, for it was decided after a jury trial on the merits—not on a motion to dismiss.


�   	Fed.R.Civ.P. 9(b) requires specificity for fraud claims, but unlike the case relied upon by the district court, Mylan Labs., Inc. v. Matkari, 7 F.3d 1130 (4th Cir. 1993), Cavalier’s claim did not allege fraud.


�   In its June 24, 2002 letter to the Court, Verizon also argues that the reinstatement of a consumer claim under § 202 in Trinko, supra, does not apply here.  That ruling addressed a consumer’s standing.  Verizon quotes language from a different portion of the decision addressing whether the consumer could bring a claim for violation of a different provision, § 251.  Unlike in Trinko, no § 251 claim is at issue in this case.


�  	Paragraph 222 referred to audits of Verizon’s compliance with provisions concerning collocation.


�   	The district court also should not have speculated that the corporation “was formed for the sole purpose of owning and managing investment assets in Cavalier Telephone LLC.”  (J.A. 1158.)  In fact, the parent was formed well after Cavalier itself started doing business.
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